**Master's Thesis** 

Exploring the antibacterial property of silver nanotriangles synthesized using biocompatible polymers

Sailee Shroff



University of Jyväskylä

Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences

Nanoscience Centre

Division of Cell and Molecular Biology

26/02/2018

## Preface

The work presented in this thesis was carried out in collaboration with Jussi Toppari from the Department of Physics and Leona Gilbert from the Division of Cell and Molecular Biology at the University of Jyväskylä.

I would like to start by thanking both my supervisors Jussi and Leona, who provided me the opportunity to work on this inter disciplinary topic and initiated great scientific discussions in moments of doubts. They have stood by me during my weakest moments and supported in every way possible.

A sincere regard for Prof. Janne Ihalainen, for being assertive in every decision of mine. Your constant mentoring and advice has brought me this far.

I owe a deep sense of gratitude to my mentor Kosti Tapio for his keen interest in guiding me at every stage of my research. His prompt inspirations, timely suggestions with kindness, enthusiasm and dynamism have enabled me to complete my thesis.

I would also like to thank my colleagues Shen Boxuan, Kati Karvonen, Kai Kanotkip, Nitipon Puttaraksa, Heidi Perttinen, Kreetika Chauhan, Kunal Garg and Martin Chilman for their prompt and timely advice, which helped me in big ways during my research period.

This project would not be completed without Petri Papponen, for his training with the Transmission Electron Microscope and Laura Pitkänen with the microbiology experiments.

As my fears and doubts held me tight, my friends stayed with me and guided me on the right path. Thank you! Dhanik, Saquib, Ardra, Vaibhav and Bhavesh for putting up that smile on my face.

Finally, my family back in India, thank you for believing in me and encouraging me to pursue my dreams of studying in a beautiful country like Finland.

Jyväskylä, I've had the best memories here!

Sailee

#### University of Jyväskylä

#### **Faculty of Mathematics and Science**

Author: Sailee Shroff

**Title of thesis:** Exploring the antibacterial property of silver nanotriangles synthesized using biocompatible polymers.

Date: 26.02.2018

**Pages:** 40

Department: Department of Biological and Environmental Science and Nanoscience Center.

Chair: Cell and Molecular Biology

Supervisor(s): Jussi Toppari (PhD, Prof.) and Leona Gilbert (PhD, Docent)

## Abstract

Medical devices contaminated with pathogens are the most common source of hospital acquired infections. To prevent the spreading of the infections to other patients and to ensure the safety of the medical devices, hospitals undertake obligatory decontamination procedures. The current decontamination procedures use expensive and hazardous disinfectants and lengthy sterilization protocols. Some bacteria have also developed resistant strains against common disinfectants, as well as against antibiotics of a similar structures through the process of cross resistance. Thus, there is an emerging need for the development of an alternate class of antibacterial agents that can be coated on all categories of medical devices and are active against a broad range of pathogens.

Studies on silver nanoparticles in the past have highlighted their antibacterial nature, but toxicity associated with metallic silver has limited its applicability in biomedical science. With a future aim of developing an antibacterial coating for medical devices that overcomes all the above problems, we synthesized silver nanotriangles using biocompatible polymers like polyethylene glycol (PEG) and poly(sodium) styrene sulphonate (PSSS). The use of biocompatible polymers as a surface coating is hypothesized to reduce the cytotoxicity associated with the nanoparticle. Nanotriangles were of particular interest to us due to their high reactivity with bacterial surfaces that comes from their pointy vertexes and the presence of large number of high atom density facets such as {111}, which are not present in other shapes such as sphere, rods, etc.

Techniques like light spectroscopy and Transmission electron microscopy were used to characterize the nanotriangles. Nanotriangles of PEG were mostly triangular with sharp edges and 35.6 % of them had edge length between 40-50 nm, while the nanotriangles of PSSS were quasi spherical to triangular with blunt edges and 37.5 % of them had edge length between 20-30 nm. The antimicrobial effect of nanotriangles of PEG and PSSS on bacteria were examined using agar plates and liquid cultures of *Escherichia coli* strain (DH5 $\alpha$ ). At lower dilution ratios (3/5) of PEG and PSSS nanotriangles, a clear antibacterial effect was observed, whereas, higher dilution ratios (1/10) only revealed a reduction in growth of the *E. coli* cells. With these set of results, silver nanotriangles made using biocompatible polymers provides innovative prospects in being used as a future antibacterial coating for medical devices.

# **Table of Contents**

PREFACE	2
ABSTRACT	3
TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
1. INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 CURRENT SCENARIO ON STERILIZATION OF MEDICAL DEVICES	7
1.1.1 HOSPITAL ACQUIRED INFECTIONS	7
1.1.2 ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE	8
1.1.3 TRADITIONAL METHODS OF DECONTAMINATING MEDICAL DEVICES	8
1.2 SILVER: ANTIMICROBIAL AGENT	9
1.3 BIOCOMPATIBLE POLYMERS	11
1.4 SILVER NANOTRIANGLES	12
<b>1.5</b> Escherichia coli: A model organism for study	12
2. AIM OF STUDY	13
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	14
3.1. Synthesis of Silver nanotriangles	14
3.1.1 Using polyethylene glycol (PEG)	14
3.1.2 Using poly (sodium) styrene sulfonate (PSSS)	14
3.2. CHARACTERIZATION	15
3.2.1 UV-Vis Spectroscopy	15
3.2.2 Transmission electron microscopy	15
3.2.3 Scanning electron microscopy	16
3.3 ANTIBACTERIAL STUDIES	17
3.3.1 Bacterial culture and media preparation	17
3.3.2 Testing of silver nanotriangles on E. coli	18
4. RESULTS	20
4.1. SILVER NANOTRIANGLES MADE WITH POLYETHYLENE GLYCOL	20
4.1.1 Synthesis	20
4.1.2 Characterization	21
4.1.3 Antimicrobial testing	23
4.2. SILVER NANOTRIANGLES MADE WITH POLY (SODIUM) STYRENE SULPHONATE	25
4.2.1 Synthesis	25
4.2.2 Characterization	25
4.2.3 Antimicrobial testing	28
5. DISCUSSION	
6. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PROSPECTS	
7. REFERENCES	35

# Abbreviation

AA	Ascorbic Acid			
AA	Acetic Acid			
Ag	Silver			
AgNO <sub>3</sub>	Silver Nitrate			
AgNTs	Silver Nanotriangles			
AMR	Antimicrobial Resistance			
BF-TEM	Bright Field Transmission Electron Microscopy			
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention			
ddH <sub>2</sub> O	Double Distilled water			
DH5a	recombinant strain Douglas Hanahan			
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid			
E. coli	Escherichia coli			
EtO	Ethylene Oxide			
FDA	Food and Drug Administration			
g	Gram			
$H_2$	Hydrogen			
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen Peroxide			
HAIs	Hospital Acquired Infections			
HCl	Hydrochloric acid			
HNO <sub>3</sub>	Nitric acid			
hrs	Hours			
IL	Interleukins			
kV	kiloVolts			
L	Liter			
LaB <sub>6</sub>	Lanthanum Hexaboride			
LB	Luria Bertani			
LSPR	Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance			
М	Molar			
mg/l	Milligram per liter			
MIC	Minimum Inhibitory Concentration			
min	Minute			
ml	Milliliter			

ml/min	Milli liter per minute		
mM	Milli molar		
Mw	Molecular weight		
NaBH <sub>4</sub>	Sodium borohydride		
NaCl	Sodium chloride		
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide		
NIR	Near Infrared region		
nm	Nanometer		
O.D.	Optical Density		
PEG	Polyethylene glycol		
PSSS	Poly (sodium) styrene sulphonate		
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species		
rpm	Rotations Per Minute		
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy		
SERS	Surface Enhanced Raman Scattering		
Т	Thickness		
T TEM	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy		
T TEM TSC	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate		
T TEM TSC UV	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet Ultraviolet - Visible		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis WHO	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet Ultraviolet - Visible World Health Organization		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis WHO °C	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet Ultraviolet - Visible World Health Organization Degree Celsius		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis WHO °C λmax	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet Ultraviolet - Visible World Health Organization Degree Celsius Lambda max/ absorption maxima		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis WHO °C λmax μl	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet Ultraviolet - Visible World Health Organization Degree Celsius Lambda max/ absorption maxima Micro liter		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis WHO °C λmax μl	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet Ultraviolet - Visible World Health Organization Degree Celsius Lambda max/ absorption maxima Micro liter		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis WHO °C λmax μl μM	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet Ultra Violet - Visible World Health Organization Degree Celsius Lambda max/ absorption maxima Micro liter Micro molar		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis WHO °C λmax μl μM μM	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet Ultra Violet - Visible World Health Organization Degree Celsius Lambda max/ absorption maxima Micro liter Micro molar Micro meter Percent		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis WHO °C λmax μl μM μM	Thickness Transmission Electron Microscopy Tri Sodium Citrate Ultra Violet Ultra Violet - Visible World Health Organization Degree Celsius Lambda max/ absorption maxima Micro liter Micro molar Micro molar Percent Zero Dimension		
T TEM TSC UV UV-Vis WHO °C λmax μl μM μM β	ThicknessTransmission Electron MicroscopyTri Sodium CitrateUltra VioletUltra Violet - VisibleWorld Health OrganizationDegree CelsiusLambda max/ absorption maximaMicro literMicro molarPercentZero DimensionOne Dimension		

## **1. Introduction**

1.1 Current scenario on sterilization of medical devices

In modern times, surgery has become an inevitable procedure in the management of chronic health conditions, which has led to our growing dependence on it. To support this statement, the latest statistics extracted from the Eurostat's database shows that in Finland for example, there has been a clear increase in the number of surgeries from 467805 in 2000 to 621731 in 2010 (WHO, 2014). All surgical procedures involve the contact of the medical device with the patient's body tissues or fluids (Spach et al., 1993). During such procedures, a patient is at high risk of contracting an infection from the medical device if it is not decontaminated properly. To avoid problems related to contamination, such as Hospital Acquired Infections (HAIs), The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) has enlisted guidelines for hospitals to clean and disinfect hospital environments, working surfaces, and surgical equipment's (CDC, 1983 and Rutala et al., 2008). The lack of compliance with the guidelines established by the CDC, along with the abusive use of antibiotics, has led to a worldwide spread of multi drug resistant bacteria (Knobler et al., 2003). According to the latest CDC report, HAI from medical devices alone affects 1.7 million people in the United States, killing nearly 99,000 people every year with 5% to 10% of patients getting infected while in the hospital (Golkar et al., 2014 and Klevens et al., 2007). Despite undertaking costly precautionary measures to prevent the spread of HAI, it is still emerging to be one of the greatest challenges to the healthcare industry today (Scott, 2009).

## **1.1.1 Hospital Acquired Infections**

HAIs are known as health care acquired infections or more commonly referred to as nosocomial infections in the healthcare industry. HAIs are microbial infections that people get through contact of medical devices while being treated in a healthcare facility, for example, hospitals, long-term care centers, outpatient clinics, dialysis centers, and surgical centers (Stone *et al.*, 2002). HAIs can be viral, bacterial or a fungal pathogen by origin. The most common infections are those of *Escherichia coli*, Vancomycin Resistant *Enterococcus* (VRE), *Clostridium difficile, Acinetobacter baumannii*, Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) and Norovirus (Dancer, 2008, Martinez *et al.*, 2003, Tankovic *et al.*, 1994, Green *et al.*, 1998 and Kaatz *et al.*, 1988). The source of these pathogens is usually patients already infected with HAIs in the hospitals. These patients transmit pathogens to uninfected patients via hospital surfaces, nursing staff, and medical devices which are in common use. Lack of improper disinfection strategies may facilitate easy transfer of HAIs through surgical

equipment's (Haley *et al.*, 1985). HAI are so common, that nowadays, about one in twentyfive hospital patients are diagnosed with a HAI (CDC, 2016).

#### **1.1.2 Antibiotic Resistance**

In the early 20th century, infectious diseases were the major cause of mortality worldwide (Cohen, 2000). The gradual decrease in mortality rate around the 1940s was attributed to the introduction of antibiotics. However, the consequence of their overuse in the past few decades has led to the evolution of bacterial resistance (Komolafe, 2003). Literature states that 30% to 60% of the antibiotics prescribed in intensive care units (ICUs) have been found to be unnecessary, inappropriate, or sub optimally used (Luyt et al., 2014). Resistance occurs when the bacteria change in a way (through mutations) that the effectiveness of drugs, chemicals, or other agents, that were otherwise designed to cure or prevent infections, reduces (WHO, 2017). This means that the antibiotics have little or no effect on killing bacteria anymore. Various attempts have been made to overcome the bacterial resistance by discovering new antibiotics or modifying current antibiotics, however, the discovery of new drug molecules is not up to par with the rate at which pathogens are undergoing mutations to develop the resistance against the drug (Huh et al., 2011). HAIs and antibiotic resistance is closely related. More than 60% of the HAIs worldwide are due to the emergence of multi drug resistant bacteria, for example methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) and Carbapenem-resistant-Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) (Ventola, 2015).

#### 1.1.3 Traditional Methods of decontaminating medical devices

Cleaning the hospital premises and decontaminating medical devices to prevent transmission of HAIs is of aesthetic necessity. Disinfection and sterilization are two types of decontamination processes. The basic difference between these two processes being that disinfection only destroys harmful organisms whereas sterilization destroys all types of organisms present on the surface or inside a liquid/object. Currently sterilization followed by disinfection is the protocol employed to reduce the bio burden present on medical equipment.

Chemical disinfectants such as quaternary ammonium compounds, aldehydes, alcohols, and halogens are being used to tackle the problem of HAIs (Rutala *et al.*, 2001, Simões *et al.*, 2010, Hota *et al.*, 2004, Russell *et al.*, 1999). As per Talon (1999), a disinfectant is never able to kill 100% of the bacteria present on the equipment because of inefficient cleaning protocols and there are some bacteria that have developed resistance against the active compounds of the disinfectant. Some of the disinfectants used nowadays are known to leave

surface residues. The chemical residues left behind continue to kill the bacteria, meanwhile, a small population of those bacteria undergo mutations under stress and develop a defense mechanism against the active compounds of the disinfectant. These lineages continue to replicate and develop a family of resistant species (McMurry *et al.*, 1998). Studies have also shown that bacteria that develop tolerance against the active compounds in disinfectants have the potential to develop resistance against antibiotics due to the phenomena of cross-resistance (Russell *et al.*, 1998). Triclosan is a common active compound present in most disinfectants. Triclosan has a similar inhibitory target in bacteria as some antibiotics. Mutations in bacteria make them tolerant not only to triclosan but also the antibiotic isoniazid, which is used to treat tuberculosis in patients. Thus, due to similar targets, mutations are able to endow tolerance even against common antibiotics, which is a serious concern (McMurry *et al.*, 1998).

Sterilization is the other decontamination procedure that is used in hospitals to treat surgical devices, as they are capable of destroying all microorganisms including spores (Rutala *et al.*, 2013). Given the range and type of medical devices available in today's hospitals, it is not possible for any one sterilizing agent to be used for all types of medical devices and some of the sterilizing agents even have drawbacks associated with their use. For example, heat labile devices cannot be sterilized using autoclaving; hydrogen peroxide (HP) cannot be used on instruments coated with zinc, brass or nickel (Knox *et al.*, 1961 and Walt *et al.*, 2004). In addition, some of the chemical agents used for sterilization can cause health hazards to the person handling it. For example, ethylene oxide (EtO) is toxic if ingested and it is highly flammable and thus needs careful storage and handling (Rutala *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, the use of a HP gas plasma (HPgp) setup requires a dedicated facility and a specialist to handle it. This makes the process of sterilization more complicated, expensive and time consuming (Rutala *et al.*, 2004).

#### 1.2 Silver: antimicrobial agent

With the emergence of pathogenic strains that are resistant towards disinfectants, antibiotics and to avoid hassles of multiple sterilization procedures, there is a need for an alternate class of disinfection systems that can be easily coated on all types of surgical devices and more importantly benefit to all class of hospitals (Fischbach *et al.*, 2009 and Huh *et al.*, 2011). Oligodynamic metals like silver are to these days one of the most promising candidates to fill this role. A Swiss botanist, Von Ngeli (1893) defined the term oligodynamic ("oligos" is small & "dynamis" is power) for metals that exhibited bactericidal properties at minute

concentrations such as copper, tin, and silver. The use of pure metallic silver and salts of silver in wound has been recorded quite early in history (Chernousova et al., 2013). This means that the bactericidal nature of silver has been known for a long time. Building on this fact, scientist in recent times started exploring the properties of nanoparticles of silver (Sondi and Salopek, 2004 and Rai et al., 2009). The properties of nanoparticles are different from their bulk counterparts because as the particle size decreases, a greater proportion of atoms are exposed to the surface, and more surface area is available for reaction (Lambert et al., 2010). The advantage of using silver nanoparticles over their bulk counterparts is that they are significantly more toxic to microbes than Ag<sup>+</sup> from metallic silver or salts of silver (Bachelor et al., 2014). They are effective at killing even at nano molar concentrations, compared with micro molar levels for bulk Ag<sup>+</sup> (Lok *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, the nanoparticle synthesis route is quite simple and the morphology is easily tunable (Marin et al., 2015). One drawback witnessed with the use of silver was the development of resistance against silver in bacteria. However, it was noticed that the mutations for resistance were unstable, difficult to maintain and non-transferable (McHugh et al., 1975, Hendry et al., 1979, Deshpande et al., 1994, Annear et al., 1976 and Bridges et al., 1979).

Despite having very good bactericidal properties, toxicity associated with nanoparticles (that come from the chemicals that are used during synthesis) have restricted their use in many biomedical based applications (Stensberg *et al.*, 2011). The uptake of silver nanoparticles in eukaryotic cells can induce the production of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS), leading to oxidative stress and genotoxic effects (Wu et al., 2010). ROS is produced as a result of disruption in the flux of ions and electrons across the mitochondrial membrane. Excess ROS production leads to cell death via apoptosis or necrosis and also impairs the energy-dependent DNA repair mechanisms (Asharani *et al.*, 2009). Ag<sup>+</sup> released from the silver nanoparticles is also known to directly damage the DNA (Yang et al., 2009). In a study reported by Carlson and colleagues (2008), the exposure of silver nanoparticles to alveolar macrophages stimulated an immune reaction by inducing the production of pro inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , MIP-2 and IL-1 $\beta$ . With this information available on the toxic effects of silver nanoparticles on eukaryotic systems, there is a need to shift our focus towards synthesizing nanoparticles using more natural products like bio extracts from plants or using polymers during synthesis which are already known to be biocompatible. The limitations while using bio extracts for synthesis are that the obtained nanoparticles are polydisperse (Chowdhury et al., 2014). Moreover, seasonal variation and different geographic locations of the plants for

the bio extracts restrict the ability to reproduce the same set of nanoparticles (Singh *et al.*, 2013). On the other hand, using polymers during synthesis offer rapid reproducibility, prevents aggregation and reduces cytotoxicity associated with the nanoparticle (Larsen *et al.*, 2009).

#### **1.3 Biocompatible Polymers**

Polymers are defined as macromolecules composed of one or more identical units called monomers that are repeated throughout the chain (Elias, 1997). Polymers can be synthetic or natural. Example of synthetic polymers are Polyethylene, Polypropylene, Polyvinyl chloride, Polystyrene, Nylon, Teflon, Polyurethanes, and natural polymers are DNA, proteins etc. (Davis, 2004). Biocompatibility is one of the most important characteristics associated with a polymeric material if it is intended to be used in a biomedical application (Anderson, 2001). Yu and colleagues (2012) have shown in their study that surface modification of nanoparticles with biocompatible polymers greatly reduces the cytotoxicity associated with the metal nanoparticles. In a similar study carried out by Larsen and coworkers (2009), polymer coated nanoparticles have indicated a reduced phagocytic capture by the immune system which prevented an inflammatory response. Some of the polymers that are being used in recent times for biomedical based applications are polyethylene glycol and poly (sodium) styrene sulphonate (Inada *et al.*, 1995).



Figure 1: Chemical structure of A) Polyethylene glycol. B) Poly (sodium) styrene sullphonate.

Polyethylene glycol (PEG) is a synthetic polyether available in a range of molecular weight. Polyether's having  $M_w \leq 100000$  are commonly referred to as polyethylene glycols. PEG 3350 is nontoxic, approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in drug formulations, and is commonly used as a strong laxative (Fuertges *et al.*, 1990). Experimental evidence suggests that PEG 3350 does not interact with the immune system and is easily cleared from the system unaltered (Working *et al.*, 1997). Poly (sodium) styrene sulphonates (PSSS) are polymers of polystyrene with a modified sulphonate group. They are generally available as sodium or calcium salts with an average molecular weight of  $M_w \sim 10,000,000$ . It is commonly used in the treatment of patients with hyperkalemia; it binds to excess potassium secreted by the kidneys and clears it from the system (Harris *et al.*, 1997). It has also been used as an antimicrobial agent in the formulation of a vaginal gel (Herold *et al.*, 2000). Cytotoxicity assay performed on human epithelial cells suggested very little toxicity, due to their inert nature (Fahey *et al.*, 1998).

#### **1.4 Silver nanotriangles**

Nanoparticles of a specific shape in coordination with synthetic polymers like PEG have demonstrated good biocompatibility, while maintaining their anti-microbial property (Debnath *et al.*, 2017). Meanwhile the efficacy of the nanoparticles at killing a microbe considerably changes depending on their size and shape. (Lu *et al.*, 2013, Pal *et al.*, 2007). In a review published by Pal and coworkers (2007), triangular shaped nanoparticles displayed a higher killing rate against both gram positive as well as gram negative bacteria as compared to other common shapes such as spherical and rods. Silver nanotriangles have previously been popular as ultrasensitive tools in Surface Enhanced Raman Scattering (SERS) based detection system. The presence of sharp edges or tips in nanotriangles creates an enhanced electromagnetic hotspot in noble metals, thus making the detection of analytes highly sensitive. Pal and coworkers (2007) in their research have suggested that the pointed edges in nanotriangles along with the presence of large number of high atom density facets such as {111} are responsible for the higher antibacterial activity against bacteria. Thus, there is a need to focus our attention towards exploring this property of silver nanotriangles.

#### 1.5 Escherichia coli: a model organism for study

The best ways of assessing the antimicrobial activity of newly discovered disinfectant/sterilizing agent is to test them against the most frequently occurring HAIs which are those of the gram-positive *Staphylococcus aureus* and the gram-negative *Escherichia coli* (Preibe *et al.*, 2017, Reybrouck, 1998). Amongst all the known HAIs, *E. coli* is the most common strain found across hospitals worldwide (Peleg *et al.*, 2010). *E. coli* are rod shaped, facultative, gram-negative bacteria belonging to the family Enterobacteriaceae. It encompasses a family of serotypes, which have genetic and phenotypic diversity. There are various reasons why *E. coli* is a preferred choice of model organism for a research study (Cooper, 2000). Firstly, the bacterium grows under minimum nutrients with a reproduction time of only 20 mins and thus scaling up is much easier compared to other bacterial species.

Quick reproduction time also allows for easy replication and faster expression of genes. A clonal population of *E. coli* cells, which are derived from the propagation of a single cells can be isolated as a single colony on LB agar plates (Cooper, 2000). The entire genome of strain MG1655 and W3110 was sequenced in 1997 (Blattner *et al.*, 1997). The 4.64 million base pair genome encodes 4,289 genes, whose functions have been known and stored in the EcoCyc database (Keseler *et al.*, 2009) and Coli Genetic Stock Centre (Riley *et al.*, 2005). With this preexisting information, a more detailed understanding of the bacteria and nanoparticles interactions could be made in our study.

## 2. Aim of Study

The aim of this thesis work was to synthesize nanotriangles of silver and test their antibacterial activity so that they could be used as future antibacterial coatings on surgical instruments. The main objectives were:

- To synthesize silver nanotriangles using biocompatible polymers such as poly ethylene glycol and poly (sodium) styrene sulphonate.
- To characterize their size and shape using techniques like U.V.-Visible Spectroscopy and Transmission Electron Microscopy.
- Test and compare the antibacterial activity of the PEG and PSSS nanotriangles against the gram-negative bacterium *E. coli*, both in liquid cultures and on agar plates.

## **3. Materials and Methods**

## **3.1. Synthesis of Silver nanotriangles**

## 3.1.1 Using polyethylene glycol (PEG)

The synthesis of Silver nanotriangles using polyethylene glycol was a one pot process. The protocol for synthesis was adapted from the literate published by Zhang and coworkers (2011). The glassware used for synthesis was rinsed in aqua regia once followed by three times washing with ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Aqua regia was prepared by mixing 1 ml of HNO<sub>3</sub> to 3 ml of HCl (1:3). The moisture from the glassware was dried out completely before use. During synthesis, a volume of 50  $\mu$ l of 0.05 M Silver Nitrate (AgNO<sub>3</sub>) (Fluka), 500  $\mu$ l of 75 mM Trisodiumcitrate (TSC) (Merck), 100  $\mu$ l of 17.5 mM PEG (LaySan Bio), 60  $\mu$ l of 30 % Hydrogen Peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) (Emsure) and 150  $\mu$ l of 100 mM Sodium Borohydride (NaBH<sub>4</sub>) (Flucka) were added sequentially to a volumetric flask containing 24.14 ml of ddH<sub>2</sub>O. The reaction mix was stirred vigorously at 1500 rpm for 10-15 mins or until any further color change occurred. For every reaction, NaBH<sub>4</sub> and AgNO<sub>3</sub> were prepared fresh. NaBH<sub>4</sub> reacts violently and quickly with water at room temperature. Thus, NaBH<sub>4</sub> was prepared with slightly cool ddH<sub>2</sub>O (ddH<sub>2</sub>O at 4°C for 30 mins). Post synthesis, the prepared silver nanotriangles were stored in dark at +4°C until further use. This synthesis protocol was repeated three times.

## 3.1.2 Using poly (sodium) styrene sulfonate (PSSS)

The synthesis of silver nanotriangles using PSSS was a two-step process, involving seed production of small spherical silver nanoparticles, followed by growth into larger nanotriangles. The protocol was adapted from Aherne and coworkers (2008). All the experiments were performed using glassware washed with aqua regia or sterile plastic containers under a fume hood.

## a. Seed production

For seed production, 250 µl of 500 mg/L of PSSS (Sigma) and 300 µl of 10 mM NaBH<sub>4</sub> (Fluka) were added rapidly and sequentially to the flask containing 5 ml of 2.5 mM TSC (Merck). Further, 5 ml of 0.5 mM AgNO<sub>3</sub> was added to the flask dropwise using a tubing pump (ISMATEC REGLO ICC Digital Peristaltic Pump, EW-78001-70). The addition was controlled at a flow rate of 2 ml/min, while stirring continuously at 1500 rpm. The color of the solution gradually turned from colorless to light yellow and finally to chartreuse color

over a time span of ~ 3-4 mins. For every synthesis protocol, NaBH<sub>4</sub> and AgNO<sub>3</sub> were freshly prepared as above.

#### b. Growth of silver nanotriangles

The silver nanotriangles were grown from the seed solution. A volume of 75  $\mu$ l of 10 mM Ascorbic Acid (AA) (Sigma) and 80  $\mu$ l of seed solution were added to a sterile falcon tube containing 5 ml of ddH<sub>2</sub>O. The contents in the tube were mixed vigorously using vortexing (Vortex-Genie 2, USA Scientific). To this, 3 ml of 0.5 mM AgNO<sub>3</sub> was added dropwise at a rate of 1 ml/min using a syringe pump (ISMATEC REGLO ICC Digital Peristaltic Pump, EW-78001-70). There was a gradual change in the color of the solution from light yellow to orange-vine-red-violet-purple over a time span of 8-10 mins.

## c. Stabilizing the silver nanotriangles

Newly formed nanoparticles tend to stabilize themselves by adsorbing molecules on their surface or lower their surface area through agglomeration or coagulation (Kraynov *et al.*, 2011). In order to avoid the later and produce uniformly sized nanoparticles, 500  $\mu$ l of 25 mM TSC (stabilizing agent) was added at the end of the synthesis process. The nanotriangle solution was stored in the dark at +4°C until further use (Aherne *et al.*, 2008). This protocol was repeated three times for a total volume of 10 ml of nanotriangles.

#### 3.2. Characterization

Post synthesis, the samples were analyzed using UV-Vis Spectroscopy (Elmer Perkin Lambda 850), Transmission Electron Microscopy (JEOL-JEM 1400 HC) and Scanning Electron Microscopy (Raith E-Line) to study the size, shape and distribution.

## 3.2.1 UV-Vis Spectroscopy

A sample volume of 1 ml of both the PEG and PSSS AgNT was aliquoted individually into cuvettes (VWR) of path length 1 cm and the extinction spectra was recorded from 899 nm to 300 nm using the Spectrophotometer (Elmer Perkin Lambda 850). The raw data was plotted using the software ORIGIN.

#### 3.2.2 Transmission electron microscopy

The samples for microscopy were prepared by pipetting a clean colloidal solution of silver nanotriangles onto formvar coated copper grid (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Lot no 110526). The nanotriangle solution were cleaned prior to deposition on TEM grids to remove salts from the sample. Crystals of salts hinder the imaging process and prevent uniform distribution of the nanoparticles on the grid. For washing the triangles, in step one, 1.5 ml of

the silver nanotriangles was spun down at a speed of 6000 rpm for 5 mins. In step two, an amount of 500  $\mu$ l was discarded from the supernatant and the pellet was resuspended with fresh 500  $\mu$ l of ddH2O and spun down again (5 mins, 6000 rpm). Step number two was repeated two more times. Finally, in step five, a volume of 300  $\mu$ l of the spun down sample was resuspended with 100  $\mu$ l of 70 % ethanol in a new Eppendorf tube. The copper grids were made more hydrophilic and decontaminated for the presence of any residual hydrocarbons by treating them with low energy plasma for 15 seconds, using the glow discharge machine (Electron Microscopy Sciences). Amongst all the cleaning processes available today, plasma induced cleaning is the least aggressive methods.

A sample volume of 4 µl was pipetted on the pretreated TEM grids and left to dry overnight in a nitrogen chamber. Normal drying can introduce artifacts that obscure the dispersion of nanoparticles on the grid and hinder image analysis (Michen et al., 2015). Keeping the TEM grids in a chamber with a constant flow of dry nitrogen prevents oxidization of sample through moisture (inert environment) and the hygroscopic nature of N<sub>2</sub> gas allows the grids to dry very quickly. In our experiment, the grids were left for long overnight drying to secure fully moisture free grids. The images of the silver nanotriangles were acquired using the JEOL-JEM 1400 HC electron microscope, equipped with a field emission gun, LaB<sub>6</sub> filament, operating at an acceleration voltage of 80 kV, in the BF- TEM imaging mode. Before every imaging session, the microscope was aligned and a blank correction was conducted to prevent noise and to enhance the resolution. A total of 25 images from different sections of each grid were taken. For each batch of nanotriangles that were synthesized, TEM grids were made in duplicates as a backup to damages that happen while handling the grids. Since the synthesis protocol was performed 3 times each for both types of nanotriangles, a total of 6 grids were prepared before imaging. The edge length of 129 PEG AgNTs and 100 PSSS AgNTs was measured using a scale bar provided in the image to plot the histogram.

#### 3.2.3 Scanning electron microscopy

The same nanotriangle sample that was used for Transmission Electron Microscopy was used for Scanning Electron Microscopy. In this case, a volume of 2  $\mu$ l of the washed silver nanotriangle solution was pipetted onto silicon/silicon dioxide chips and left to dry in a nitrogen chamber. Prior to coating the chips with the sample, the chips were immersed in warm 100 % acetone for 5 mins to remove any contaminants present on its surface and preceded by a quick wash with 70 % isopropanol (IPA) and drying with a nitrogen gun. IPA is used later in the cleaning step as it removes contaminants and any residual acetone stains.

## **3.3 Antibacterial studies**

The silver nanotriangles synthesized using PEG and PSSS were tested against the most commonly found bacterial strain associated with hospital infections, i.e., *E. coli* using agar culture and liquid media culture (Bondi *et al.*, 1947, Stamm, 1978).

## 3.3.1 Bacterial culture and media preparation

## 3.3.1.1 Preparation of culture media

The Luria-Bertani (LB) broth was prepared to culture *E. coli* cells for the antimicrobial tests. LB is commonly used to culture *E. coli* because it permits fast and good growth yields (Sezonov *et al.*, 2007). The LB broth was prepared by combining 10 g of 1 % Bacto - tryptone (Biokar), 5 g of 0.5 % yeast extract (Biokar), 10 g of 85 mM NaCl (VWR) and 1 liter of distilled water. The pH of the media was adjusted to 7.0 with 1 M NaOH. To make LB agar plates, 15 g of 1.5 % Bacto-Agar (Biokar) was supplemented to 1 L of Luria-Bertani broth prior to autoclaving. The media was prepared with deionized distilled water after which it was sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C for 20 min.

## 3.3.1.2 Preparation of Luria-Bertani agar plates

Sterile media with agar was heated in a microwave, till all the agar dissolved and then cooled roughly to 50-60°C. An amount of 15 ml of LB agar was aliquoted into each petri plate (Sarstedt) such that the bottom of the dish was completely covered. The plates were left standing until the media solidified under sterile conditions. Prepared agar plates were stored upside down at  $+4^{\circ}$ C until further use to prevent condensation droplets from falling on the agar surface which could be potential sources of contamination.

## 3.3.1.3 Culturing of E. coli cells

In order to culture the *E. coli* DH5 $\alpha$  cells (Ec) for our antimicrobial tests, the stock solution of *E. coli* that was previously stored at -80°C was thawed on ice. A loop full of *E. coli* cells were scooped form the stock solution with an inoculation loop (Sarsdtedt) and added to a culture tube containing 5 ml of freshly prepared LB. The culture was grown in a shaker incubator (New Brunswick Scientific, C24 incubator shaker) at 37 °C, 225 rpm for 6-7 hrs. The *E. coli* cells were allowed to grow up to an O.D. of 0.6. The growth was measured by recording the optical density of the media at 595 nm using a spectrometer (Multiskan<sup>TM</sup> FC Microplate Photo). The underlying principle being that the presence of bacteria in the sample scatter the incoming light that is converted into an absorbance value, which we read as O.D.

#### 3.3.2 Testing of silver nanotriangles on E. coli

## 3.3.2.1 Qualitative analysis using the spread plate method

Prior to the test, silver nanotriangle solution that was prepared under nonsterile conditions, was filtered through a 0.2  $\mu$ m filter (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) to prevent contamination during the experiment. An amount of 40  $\mu$ l of cultured *E. coli* suspension (O.D. 0.6 at 595 nm) was pipetted onto a LB agar plate and spread using a disposable sterile L shaped loop (Sarstedt). To this, 40  $\mu$ l of PEG and PSSS AgNTs were supplemented individually to different agar plates and left to dry under the fume hood. The plates were incubated upside down at +37°C, overnight. As for the negative control, only *E. coli* was grown on LB agar plates without any addition of nanoparticles and the positive control for this experiment was a LB agar plate streaked with *E. coli* and supplemented with 40  $\mu$ l of 70% ethanol. This test was performed three times each with PEG and PSSS AgNTs.

#### 3.3.2.2 Bacterial time kill study

Prior to the quantitative experiment study, *E. coli* cells (DH5 $\alpha$ ) were grown in liquid LB medium at 37°C, 225 rpm. Different dilutions of PEG and PSSS nanotriangles (Table 1) were added to the culture tubes containing the *E. coli* cells and incubated in the shaker incubator at 37 °C, 225 rpm for a total time period of 24 hrs. Sample 1 was the most concentrated with 3 ml of silver nanotriangle solution and 1 ml of media in a total sample volume of 5 ml. Other samples were more diluted for example, sample 2 had 2 ml of nanotriangle solution and 2 ml of media, sample 3 had 1 ml of nanotriangle solution and 3 ml of media and sample 4 had 0.5 ml of nanotriangle solution and 3.5 ml of media.

In all the samples, the amount of *E. coli* cells was kept constant at 1 ml of O.D. 3. Optical density of the culture at 595 nm was recorded using a microplate reader (Multiskan<sup>TM</sup> GO Microplate Spectrophotometer) at intervals of 1 hour, for the first 9 hours and then at 24 hrs, in order to plot the bacterial cell growth curves (Holowachuk *et al.*, 2003). These experiments were performed three times each with PEG and PSSS AgNTs.

Sample	Dilution	Amount of Silver nanotriangle s suspension (ml)	Amount of Luria Bertani media (ml)	Amount of <i>E. coli</i> suspension (ml) O.D. = 0.3	Total volume (ml)
Sample 1	3/5	3	1	1	5
Sample 2	2/5	2	2	1	5
Sample 3	1/5	1	3	1	5
Sample 4	1/10	0.5	3.5	1	5

Table 1: Different dilutions of Silver nanotriangles to be tested on the growth of E. coli.

In order to measure the O.D. of the culture at each time point, a volume of 150 µl was aliquoted from the culture tubes into a 96 well plate (VWR) under the laminar hood to maintain sterility. Bacteria growing in silver free media was used as the negative control and bacterial culture supplemented with 70 % ethanol and 99 % ethanol were used as the positive controls. Since the experiment was performed in triplicates, an average of the optical density at 595 nm versus time in hours was plotted using the ORIGIN software. The optical density of the media and nanoparticles were blanked from the readings and data was plotted. This experiment was performed three times, with all set of dilutions of PEG AgNTs and PSSS AgNTs.

## 4. Results

With the aim of using silver nanomaterial as a bactericidal coating on surgical instruments, we aimed at exploring the antibacterial property of silver nanotriangles that were synthesized using different biocompatible polymers like polyethylene glycol and poly (sodium) styrene sulphonate. Using biocompatible polymers during synthesis is known to drastically reduce the cytotoxicity while maintaining their antibacterial property (Yu *et al.*, 2012). We wanted to examine if the same effect is perceived in nanotriangles synthesized using polymers, as nanotriangles in general are known to have a better killing effect towards bacteria, as compared to any other shape (Pal *et al.*, 2007). In this section, results from the synthesis of nanotriangles using polyethylene glycol and poly (sodium) styrene sulphonate, their characterization with UV-Vis Spectroscopy, Transmission electron microscopy and lastly, the effect of silver nanotriangles on the growth kinetics of *E. coli* are discussed.

## 4.1. Silver nanotriangles made with polyethylene glycol

## 4.1.1 Synthesis

The protocol for the synthesis of silver nanotriangles using poly ethylene glycol was adapted from Zhang and coworkers (2011). The synthesis process was observed as a result of color change from colorless to yellow-orange-red-purple and finally a blue colored solution (Andrew *et al.*, 2010). The blue colored solution marked the end of the synthesis process and an image of the silver nanotriangles can be viewed in figure 2. The change in color occurred due to the one-step reduction of silver ions into nanotriangles with the help of a strong reducing agent. The total reaction time was 15 min and the color change appeared at 4 min.



Figure 2: Aqueous colloidal dispersions of silver nanotriangles synthesized using the one pot process with poly ethylene glycol (PEG).

#### 4.1.2 Characterization

The presence of silver nanotriangles in the violet colored solution was initially confirmed by measuring the optical property with a UV-Vis Spectrophotometer (Perkin Elmer Lambda 850). Noble metallic nanoparticles exhibit a strong size dependent optical resonance known as Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance (LSPR). The plasmon couple with the incident light and produce huge enhancement of electromagnetic field around it. The interaction between the incident light and the oscillating electric field results in the scattering and absorption of light which is recorded by the Spectrophotometer and is displayed as the extinction spectrum in figure 3 (Chen *et al.*, 2012). The strong absorption maxima near the infrared region ( $\circ$ ) and the shoulder between 350-450 nm ( $\leftrightarrow$ ) as viewed in figure 3 were indicators of the presence of triangular silver nanoparticles (Wu *et al.*, 2015). The absorption maxima of the in-plane dipole were recorded at 648 nm and quadrupole mode between 350-540 nm. The short narrow peak near the U.V.-vis region of the spectrum around 340 nm could be due to residual silver, as silver ionizes around this energy or it also could be small spherical silver nanoparticles (Wu *et al.*, 2015).



**Figure 3**: **UV-Vis absorption spectrum of PEG silver nanotriangles.** The silver nanotriangles (AgNTs) are synthesized using poly ethylene glycol (PEG). The main (in-plane dipole) LSPR absorption peaks for PEG AgNTs is at 648 nm (red circle), and the in-plane quadrupole plasmon absorption is between 350-450 nm (double-sided arrows). These figures are a representative image of a triplicate experiment.

Further confirmation on the size and shape of the silver nanoparticles was obtained using the transmission electron microscope. From the TEM image in figure 4a, we can discern that the

silver nanotriangles are polydisperse, quasi spherical to triangular with relatively sharper edges as compared to the particles synthesized using PSSS (data presented in figure 9a).



**Figure 4**: **Visual confirmation and structural morphology of the synthesized PEG silver nanotriangles**. a) Transmission electron microscopy image of the silver nanotriangles. b) The histogram of silver nanotriangle edge lengths indicating a broad (20-90 nm) particle size distribution.

To know the particle size distribution, a histogram of the edge lengths of 129 nanotriangles was plotted using the ORIGIN software. In total 25 TEM images were selected from all the experimental repeats of the PEG and PSSS AgNTs synthesis to list down the edge length of the nanotriangles. The data in the histogram (in figure 4b) indicates a broad particle size distribution ranging from 20-90 nm with 35.6 % of particles having edge length between 40-50 nm.

## 4.1.3 Antimicrobial testing

The biocidal activity of PEG AgNTs was tested by performing two set of experiments on the laboratory strain of *E. coli* (DH5 $\alpha$ ). As we can observe in figure 5a, the agar plate having the positive control, i.e., 70% ethanol, does not show the presence of any *E. coli* colonies post 24 hrs incubation. The negative control, figure 5b, had a lawn of *E. coli* cells growing throughout the plate. Whereas the test plate which was supplemented with silver nanotriangles (PEG AgNTs), as observed in figure 5c, had only 103 colonies. These qualitative results suggested that the presence of PEG AgNTs restricts the growth of *E. coli* cells.



**Figure 5**: **Inhibitory effects of PEG silver nanotriangles on** *E. coli*. Observation of *E. coli* inoculated on 1.5 % Luria Broth agar plates at 24 h post incubation; a) positive control with 70% ethanol demonstrated no colony growth, b) negative control without any treatment had abundant bacterial colonies and c) *E. coli* treated with PEG silver nanotriangles. The white dots represent the colonies of *E. coli*. The plates supplemented with PEG AgNTs displays lesser colonies as compared to the negative control plate.

A quantitative analysis was made by performing a time dependent study of the effect of different dilutions of silver AgNTs of PEG on the growth of *E. coli*. Optical density of *E. coli* at 595 nm was recorded at different time points starting from 1-12 and 24 hrs. A graph of optical density measurements versus time was plotted using the ORIGIN software which can be observed in figure 6.



**Figure 6: Inhibitory effects of different dilutions of silver nanotriangles on the growth of** *E. coli*. Optical density of *E. coli* measured at 595 nm is plotted as a function of time in hours. A concentration dependent inhibition pattern in the growth curve of *E. coli* is observed in the above graph.

In this experiment, bacteria growing in the presence of 70 % and 99 % ethanol were selected as the two positive controls and the negative control was only *E. coli* growing in LB media. As depicted in figure 6, an inhibition of growth was observed in the growth curve of *E. coli* with sample 1 [PEG AgNT dilution of 3/5 (•)]. The growth curve of sample 1 is similar to that of the positive controls, where *E. coli* was grown in the presence of 70 % ethanol (\*). Both these growth curves had no increase in O.D. values over a time span of 24 hrs. The growth curve of *E. coli* with sample 2 [PEG AgNT dilution of 2/5 (•)] had a decrease of 0.1 O.D. in the first 2 hrs; however, O.D. values increased steadily after that. The *E. coli* grown in the presence of sample 3 and 4 PEG AgNTs [dilutions 1/5 ( $\blacktriangle$ ) and 1/10 ( $\textcircled{\bullet}$ )] had a growth pattern that clearly depicted a lag phase and exponential phase observed in a typical bacterial growth curve. These results indicated that lower nanoparticles dilutions killed the existing bacteria and inhibited the growth of *E. coli* completely whereas, higher dilutions of nanoparticles could only restrict growth to a certain extent for this given time.

## 4.2. Silver nanotriangles made with poly (sodium) styrene sulphonate

## 4.2.1 Synthesis

The protocol for the synthesis of silver nanotriangles using poly (sodium) styrene sulfonate was adapted from Aherne and coworkers (2008). The synthesis was a seed catalyzed two-step protocol, involving the reduction of Ag+ into  $Ag^0$  seeds and then growing these spherical silver seeds into nanotriangles.

The step 1 of the synthesis involved the use of a strong reducing agent like sodium borohydride to reduce the silver salt (AgNO<sub>3</sub>). The outcome of this reaction was the formation of a chartreuse colored solution of silver spherical seeds as viewed in figure 7.



**Figure 7**: Aqueous colloidal dispersions of silver nanotriangles synthesized using a seed mediated process using poly sodium styrene sulfonate (PSSS).

Using silver seeds from the step one as the base, additional silver was reduced with a mild reducing agent ascorbic acid. PSSS was found to play a crucial role of shape determination (Aherne *et al.*, 2008). PSSS binds to certain crystal facets which permits growth in one direction, and introduces some defects in the crystal structure of the seeds that predisposed them to nanotriangle formation. This reaction led to the formation of a violet colored solution of silver nanotriangles as shown in figure 7.

## 4.2.2 Characterization

The presence of silver nanotriangles in the solution was detected by measuring the optical property with a spectrophotometer (300-850 nm). Interaction between the incident light and the localized surface Plasmon generated a typical extinction spectrum as displayed in figure 8. The position of the LSPR band was studied to deduce some information on the shape of the nanoparticle. The extinction spectrum depicted in figure 8 showed the presence of three

dominant peaks due to the different modes of localized surface plasmon excitation. A strong absorption band is noted at the near infrared red region at 595 nm due to the inplane dipole oscillations, a shoulder between 350 - 450 nm could be due to the inplane quadrupole or residual seeds. The dotted curve in figure 8 is the extinction spectrum of the seed solution. The peaks in figure 8 are typical of LSPR excitations of silver nanotriangles and were compared and confirmed with previous literature (Wu *et al.*, 2015).



**Figure 8**: **UV-Vis absorption spectrum of PSSS silver nanotriangles.** The main (in-plane dipole) plasmon absorption peak for PSSS AgNT is at 595 nm (red circle), and the in-plane quadrupole plasmon absorption is between 350-450 nm (double sided arrows). This graph is a representative of nanotriangle synthesis that was reproducible.

The structural morphology of the synthesized particles such as the size, shape, edge length was studied with electron microscopy. The particles were visualized with the JEOL JEM 1400 LaB<sub>6</sub> at 80kV to confirm the shape, as predicted by the UV-Vis data. The edge length could be calculated using either the tools in the RADIUS software or using an image processing software like Fiji. As observed in figure 9a, there is a heterogeneous distribution in the shape of the particles, right from small spherical to large triangular ones. The edges of the PSSS AgNTs are truncated and the particles are stacked one above the other as presented in figure 9a. Using the scale bar, the thickness of the nanotriangles was calculated to be 5 nm. Of the total images were taken from different sections of the copper grid, the edge length of 100 particles was calculated using the Fiji software and a histogram was plotted using the ORIGIN software. The histogram in figure 9b shows quite a narrow size distribution of the

size of the nanoparticles as compared to the particles synthesize using Polyethylene glycol. In majority, 37.5 % of nanotriangles had an edge length between 20-40 nm.



**Figure 9: Visual confirmation and structural morphology of the PSSS silver nanotriangles**. a) Transmission electron microscopy image of Silver nanotriangles. b) Particle size distribution of silver nanotriangles depicting a relatively narrow particle size distribution (10-70 nm).

Additionally, based on the information from the absorption spectrum ( $\lambda_{max}$ ) and TEM images (where Thickness = 5 nm), an average edge length of the particles could also be predicted using the following equation.

$$L = T. \ (\frac{\lambda max - 418.8}{33.8})$$
$$L = 26.065$$

When,  $\lambda_{max} = 595$  nm and T is considered to be 5 nm.

This equation was useful to predict the average edge length of only PSSS AgNTs because; we could estimate the thickness of these particles from the TEM images, whereas for the PEG AgNTs we were not able to because of lack of information on its thickness. Also it was important to note here that the thickness was constant for all the nanotriangles and thus this equation could be applied.

## 4.2.3 Antimicrobial testing

Like the PEG AgNTs, the PSSS AgNTs were also tested for their antibacterial property by inoculating them on the surface of an agar plate streaked with *E. coli* and allowed to grow at 37°C, overnight in an incubator. Same set of controls were used as that to test the PEG AgNTs. As depicted in figure 10c, there are 134 colonies in the test plate, which are definitely lesser than the lawn of *E. coli* present in the negative control. These results suggest that these particles also have a similar antibacterial effect like the PEG AgNTs.



**Figure 10**: **Growth inhibitory effects of PSSS silver nanotriangles in** *E. coli*. Observation of *E. coli* inoculated on 1.5% Luria Broth agar plates at 24 h post incubation; a) positive control- 70% ethanol with no colonies, b) negative control is only *E. coli*, c) *E. coli* with PSSS silver nanotriangles and. The white dots represent the colonies of *E. coli*. The test plate inoculated with *E. coli* and PSSS AgNTs display lesser colonies as compared to the positive control.



**Figure 11: Inhibitory effects of different dilutions of PSSS silver nanotriangles on the growth of** *E. coli.* Optical density of *E. coli* measured at 595 nm is plotted as a function of time in hours. Positive controls are 99% and 70% ethanol added to *E. coli* growing in Luria Broth media. Negative control is only *E. coli* growing in Luria Broth media. A concentration dependent inhibition pattern in the growth curve of *E. coli* is observed for Poly (sodium) styrene sulfonate (PSSS) AgNTs. An inhibition of growth was observed in the curve of sample 1 (**■**) and 2 (**●**).

The time dependent study of the effect of different dilutions of PSSS AgNTs on the growth curve of *E. coli* elucidated a similar trend in graph as that seen with PEG AgNTs. The highest concentrated sample 1 [PSSS AgNTs dilution 3/5 (•)] showed a clear drop in O.D. values like the positive controls, as seen in figure 11. Interestingly, a slight difference was observed for the sample 2 [PSSS AgNTs dilution 2/5 (•)], where there was a rapid decrease in O.D. value for the first 2 hrs, later it started to rise steadily and rapidly. Unlike the lower dilutions, the sample 3 [PSSS AgNTs dilution 2/5 (•)] and sample 4 [PSSS AgNTs dilution 1/10 (•)] demonstrated a well-defined bacterial growth curve, which was similar to the growth curve of the negative control. This suggests that the higher dilutions have very little inhibitory effect on the growth of *E. coli*.

## **5.** Discussion

Most of the approaches used today for cleaning surgical devices rely on the use of harsh disinfectants or lengthy sterilization procedures (Cowperthwaite *et al.*, 2015). In an attempt to find an alternative to these routine procedures, we tried to synthesize nanotriangles of silver using biocompatible polymers like polyethylene glycol and poly (sodium) styrene sulphonte.

The synthesis of silver nanotriangles using poly ethylene glycol was a one-step reduction protocol adapted from Zhang and coworkers (2011). The silver nanotriangles were produced by reducing aqueous AgNO<sub>3</sub> with NaBH<sub>4</sub> in the presence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, PEG and TSC. For every synthesis reaction, AgNO<sub>3</sub> and NaBH<sub>4</sub> were prepared fresh because AgNO<sub>3</sub> is a silver salt and is photosensitive, it oxidizes quickly if exposed to light. Similarly, NaBH<sub>4</sub> quickly oxidizes into H<sub>2</sub> gas and borates when exposed to air. Although the synthesis process was straight forward and the nanotriangles were stable, there was no control over the synthesis process. Reaction conditions like different batches of reagents, ddH<sub>2</sub>O, beakers and pipetting hands etc. were implicated as factors directly influencing the reaction product. The advantage of this protocol was the easy scalability to higher volumes.

The protocol for the synthesis of silver nanotriangles using poly (sodium) styrene sulphonate was a two-step seed catalyzed method adapted from Aherne and coworkers (2008). In the first step, silver seeds were produced by a one-step reduction from  $Ag^+$  to  $Ag^\circ$  with the help of Sodium borohydride. PSSS played a crucial role of shape determination while growing nanotriangles form the seeds (Aherne *et al.*, 2008). The edge length of the nanotriangles could be easily controlled by adjusting the volume of seed solution in the growth medium. While synthesizing higher volumes of the PSSS AgNTs, the particles aggregated and settled to the bottom. Thus, scaling up to higher volumes was not possible with this protocol. Silver nanotriangles were always stored in dark conditions until use because silver as a metal is susceptible to oxidation by light (Nau *et al.*, 2015).

U.V. Vis- Spectroscopy was our first choice for preliminary characterization of the silver nano triangles that we had synthesized because it is sensitive, selective for different types of NPs and only needs a short period of time for measurement (Zhang *et al.*, 216). Plasmonic material have unique optical properties which make them strongly interact with certain wavelength of light, producing electric dipoles and higher order pole excitations which are represented by different peaks in a typical extinction spectrum. The excitation of the inplane dipole of a silver nanotriangles with light produced a broad peak near the near infrared region

of the visible spectrum, as noted in figure 3 and 8. The absorption spectra we got for PEG and PSSS AgNTs correlated very well with the dipole approximation made for a triangular nanoparticle from previous literature (Munechika et al., 2007). For our set of PEG AgNTs, the peak due to the in-plane dipole oscillation appeared at 648 nm and the shoulder between 450-500 nm was due to the collective in-plane quadrupole oscillations. Likewise, for the PSSS AgNTs, the in-plane dipole oscillation peaks appeared at 595 nm and the in-plane quadrupole oscillation was between 350-450 nm. If we compared our in-plane dipole absorption maxima of PEG AgNTs at 648 nm in figure 3 to the absorption maxima at 800 nm as presented by Zhang and coworkers in their paper, there was a clear shift in peak. The inplane dipole had blue-shifted because of the decrease in size of the edge length of the nanotriangles from 75 to 40 nm. This blue-shift can be assigned to the decrease in charge separation during plasmon oscillation due to the small size. Also, both the PEG and PSSS AgNTs spectra, in figure 3 and 8, have a short peak at 330 nm. This peak could be due to the presence of atomic silver, as silver ionizes around this energy or could be due to the out-ofplane dipole oscillations or could be small spherical silver nanoparticles that did not grow into triangles (Wu et al., 2015).

A preliminary study on the effect of silver nanotriangles on the growth and killing of bacteria was made using a qualitative and a quantitative test. The qualitative test was performed to determine whether the bacteria grow in the presence of silver nanotriangles. From our results of inoculating nanotriangles with E. coli on an agar plate, it was clearly distinguishable that there was a reduction in the number of colonies of E. coli when compared to the negative control. This meant that both PEG and PSSS AgNTs were capable of preventing growth to an extent. Previously, Raza and coworkers (2016), Tanvir and coworkers (2017) and Pal and coworkers (2007) have tried to study the size and shape dependent effects of silver nanoparticles on gram negative and gram-positive bacteria. Their nanoparticles had completely inhibited the growth of *E. coli* on an agar plate whereas in our case there was only reduction in the number of colonies. Quantitatively it got extremely difficult to compare our results with their work because we weren't successful in determining the concentration of our particles in solution. This was due to the small size of our nanoparticles and volatile nature of the colloidal solvent. Even Mass Spectroscopy analysis failed because the nanotriangles aggregated in methanol. Additionally, they have incorporated results from the Kirby Bauer test which we hadn't performed. The quantitative analysis was made to determine whether the silver nanotriangles can kill pre-existing bacteria in media. Despite not knowing the

concentration of silver nanotriangles, we made a quantitative analysis by making a series of dilutions of nanotriangles to media and inoculating them with a bacterial density of 0.3 O.D. One observation was that the nanoparticles did not precipitate in media which meant that they could be used in biological applications. From the results based on the growth curve of *E. coli* in the presence of PEG and PSSS AgNTs in figure 6 and 11, we saw that the curve of the highest concentration of nanotriangles (sample 1) for both PEG and PSSS AgNTs had a decrease in O.D. over a time span of 24 hrs, which meant that it was not only killing the pre-existing bacteria but also was preventing the growth of new bacteria. It followed the trend exactly similar to the positive control which was 70 % and 99 % ethanol. In the case of the diluted samples 2, 3 and 4 for both PEG and PSSS AgNTs, in figure 6 and 11, there was a slight decrease in O.D. as compared to the negative control, but the curve still represented a well-defined bacterial growth curve, which meant that the lesser concentrated samples of PEG and PSSS AgNTs restricted the growth to a certain extent.

A key observation was made in the graph of PSSS AgNTs with the sample 2 (2/5 dilution) curve in figure 11. There was a sharp decrease in the slope for an initial time period of two hours, however, later it resumed a steady growth. This trend of sharp decrease in O.D. was not spotted in the graph of E. coli with PEG AgNTs of the same dilution. What was interesting is that, even a lesser concentrated sample was able to push the growth curve towards the death phase for an initial time period of 2 hrs. The probable explanation could be from the theory proposed by Raffi and coworkers (2008), that smaller nanoparticles are more toxic to bacterial cells (Raffi et al., 2008). From the size distribution histogram in figure 4b, we had majority of PEG AgNTs with an average edge length of 40-50 nm, while majority of PSSS AgNTs in the histogram in figure 9b, had an average edge length of 20-30 nm. This explains why PSSS AgNTs were able to kill more bacteria as compared to PEG AgNTs at the same dilution and in the same time. Another possible explanation could be that, the number of nanoparticles present in the sample of 2 (2/5 dilution) of PSSS AgNTs was higher as compared to that of PEG AgNTs of the same dilution. Since the concentration was unknown, it is hard to comment anything about this explanation and compare our results with previous findings.

### 6. Conclusion and Future prospects

In conclusion, we were successful in reproducing silver nanotriangles using the protocol from Zhang and co-workers (2011) and Aherne and co-workers (2008). However, scaling up to higher volumes of nanotriangles synthesis was only possible for PEG AgNTs. The nanotriangles of PEG were triangular with sharp edges while the PSSS AgNTs had a mix population of quasi-spherical to triangular with blunt edges. From our antibacterial testing results, it is clear that that both the types of nanotriangles are able to kill bacteria at higher concentrations. Due to time restrains, we were not able to test the effect of our nanotriangles of PEG and PSSS AgNTs on cellular and immunological functions. It would also be interesting to test the washed nanoparticles against these bacteria, to know if the killing effect comes from the nanoparticles or the buffer they are in. A lot more could be commented about its applicability as an antibacterial agent had we got some preliminary results from making experiments like the cell viability assay, studying the uptake mechanism of nanoparticles by cells using fluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry, testing the production of pro inflammatory cytokines after exposure to these nanoparticles, effect of nanoparticle on the cellular metabolic activity using the MTT assay and Haemolysis assay.

Another crucial result would to be find a technique to quantify the number of nanotriangles in the aqueous solution, because for any pharmaceutical application it is important to know the MIC of the compound. One possibility would be to use simulations to identify the extinction coefficient and then apply the Beer Lamberts law to find the concentration. The other method would be to use dynamic light scattering to determine the size distribution profile of nanoparticles in the solution. Knowing the diameter of the nanoparticle from this technique one can measure the extinction spectra for quantifying the concentration.

The results presented in this thesis only studies the effect on a lab strain of *E. coli*, thus a hospital strain or a resistant strain would throw mores light and impact on this thesis. Also, nanoparticles behave differently with gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria (Priebe *et al.*, 2017). It would be worthwhile to consider doing these same set of experiments on gram positive bacteria. Another interesting insight to this project would be study properties of silver nanotriangles bound to metallic surface and protein coronas. Binding of nanoparticles to a great extent. Both these studies would be crucial for this project because nanotriangles would be coated on surgical instruments and since the surgical instruments would come in contact with the body tissues and fluid, it would tend to form protein coronas around the nanoparticles.

Silver nanotriangles seem to be promising candidates as biocidal agents but further investigation of its efficiency in real hospital conditions is needed.

## 7. References

- Anderson, J.M. 2001. Biological responses to materials. Annual Review of Materials Research. 31:81-110.
- Andrew, J. F., N. Cathcart, K. E. Maly and V. Kitaev. 2010. Synthesis of Silver Nanoprisms with Variable Size and Investigation of Their Optical Properties: A First-Year Undergraduate Experiment Exploring Plasmonic Nanoparticles. Journal of Chemical Education. 87(10):1098-1101.
- 3. Annear, D.I., N.J. Mee and M. Bailey. 1976. Antibacterial silver. Journal of Clinical Pathology. 29:441.
- Asharani, P.V., M. G. L. Kah, M.P. Hande and S. Valiyaveettil. 2009. Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in human cells. American Chemical Society Nano. 3:279–290.
- Batchelor-mcauley, C. K. Tschulik and C.C.M. Neumann. 2014. Why are silver nanoparticles more toxic than bulk silver? Towards understanding the dissolution and toxicity of silver nanoparticles. International Journal of Electrochemical Science. 9:1132-1138.
- Blattner, F.R., et al. 1997. The Complete Genome Sequence of Escherichia coli K-12. Science. 277(5331): 1453-1462.
- Bondi, A., E.H. Spaulding, D.E. Smith, and C.C. Dietz. 1947. 2001. Routine method for rapid determination of susceptibility to penicillin and other antibiotics. American Journal of the Medical Sciences. 213:221-5.
- 8. Bridges, K., A. Kidson, E.J.L. Lowbury and M.D. Wilkins. 1979. Shortening hospital stay for psychiatric care: effect on patients and their families. British Medical Journal. 1:442-446.
- Carlson, C., S.M. Hussain, A.M. Schrand et al. 2008. Unique cellular interaction of silver nanoparticles: size-dependent generation of reactive oxygen species. Journal of Physical Chemistry B. 112:13608–13619.
- 10. CDC: Cleaning, disinfection, and sterilization of hospital equipment. 1983. American Journal of Infection Control. 11(3)103-109.
- 11. CDC: HAI Data and Statistics. 2016. https://www.cdc.gov/hai/surveillance/index.html. (Accessed: 9.10.2017).
- Chen, H., X. Li, and Y. Du. 2012. 1D~3D Nano-engineered Biomaterials for Biomedical Applications, in Integrated Biomaterials for Biomedical Technology. Editors M. Ramalingam, A. Tiwari, S. Ramakrishna and H. Kobayashi. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey, USA.
- 13. Chernousova, S. and Epple, M. 2013. Silver as Antibacterial Agent: Ion, Nanoparticle, and Metal. Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 52:1636–1653.
- Chowdhury, S., A. Basu, and S. Kundu, S. 2014. Green synthesis of protein capped silver nanoparticles from phytopathogenic fungus Macrophomina phaseolina (Tassi) Goid with antimicrobial properties against multidrug-resistant bacteria. Nanoscale Research Letters, 9(1), 365.
- 15. Cohen, M.L. 2000. Changing patterns of infectious disease. Nature. 406(6797):762-767.
- 16. Cooper, G.M. 2000. The Cell: A Molecular Approach. 2nd edition. Sinauer Associates. Sunderland, Massachusetts.
- Cowperthwaite, L. and R.L. Holm, 2015. Guideline Implementation: Surgical Instrument Cleaning. AORN Journal. 101(5):542-552.

- 18. Dancer, S.J. 2008. Importance of the environment in methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus acquisition: the case for hospital cleaning. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 8:101–113.
- 19. Davis, F. J. 2004. Polymer chemistry: A practical approach. Oxford. Oxford University Press. New York.
- 20. Debnath, D., Y. Lee and K. E. Geckele. 2017. Biocompatible polymers as a tool for the synthesis of silver nanoparticles: size tuning and in vitro cytotoxicity studies. Polymer International. 66(4):512-520.
- 21. Deshpande, L.M. and B.A. Chopade. 1994. Plasmid mediated silver resistance in Acinetobacter baumannii. BioMetals. 7(1):49-56.
- 22. Elias, H.G. 1997. An Introduction to Polymer Science. Weinheim-VCH. New York.
- 23. Fahey, J.V., S.L. Humphrey, J.E. Stern and C.R. Wira.1998. Secretory component production by polarized epithelial cells from the human female reproductive tract. Immunological Investigations. 27:167-80.
- 24. Fischbach, M.A., C.T. Walsh. 2009. Antibiotics for Emerging Pathogens. Science. 325:1089.
- 25. Fuertges, F. and A. Abuchowski.1990. The clinical efficacy of poly (ethylene glycol)-modified proteins. Journal of Controlled Release, 11(1-3):139-148.
- 26. Galletto, P., P. F. Brevet, H. H. Girault, R. Antoine and M. Broyer. 1999. Journal of Physical Chemistry B. 103:8706-8710.
- Goli, K.K. N. Gera, X. Liu, B. M. Rao, O. J. Rojas and J. Genzer. 2013. Generation and Properties of Antibacterial Coatings Based on Electrostatic Attachment of Silver Nanoparticles to Protein-Coated Polypropylene Fibers. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces. 5 (11):5298-5306.
- 28. Golkar, Z., O. Bagazra and D.G. Pace. 2014. Bacteriophage therapy: a potential solution for the antibiotic resistance crisis. Journal of Infection in Developing Countries. 8(2):129–136.
- Green, J., P.A. Wright, C.I. Gallimore, O. Mitchell, P. Morgan-Capner, D.W.G. Brown. 1998. The role of environmental contamination with small round structured viruses in a hospital outbreak investigated by reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction assay. Journal of Hospital Infections. 39:39–45.
- Haley, R. W., J. W. White, D. H. Culver, W. Meade Morgan, T.G. Emori, V.P. Munn and T.M. Hooton. 1985. The efficacy of infection surveillance and central programs in preventing nosocomial infections in US hospitals (SENIC). American Journal of Epidemiology. 121:182-205.
- 31. Harris, J.M., and S. Zalipsky. 1997. Polyethylene Glycol Chemistry and Biological Applications. American Chemical Society. 45.
- 32. Hendry, A.T. and I.O. Stewart. 1979. Silver-resistant Enterobacteriaceae from hospital patients. Canadian Journal of Microbiology. 25(8):915-21.
- 33. Herold, B.C, N. Bourne, D. Marcellino, R. Kirkpatrick, D.M. Strauss, L.J. Zaneveld, D.P. Waller, R.A. Anderson, C.J. Chany, B.J. Barham, L.R. Stanberry and M.D. Cooper. 2000. Poly (sodium 4-styrene sulfonate): an effective candidate topical antimicrobial for the prevention of sexually transmitted diseases. Journal of infectious Diseases. 181(2):770-773.
- Holowachuk, S.A., M.B. Farid and R.K. Buddington. 2003. A kinetic microplate method for quantifying the antibacterial properties of biological fluids. Journal of Microbiological Methods. 55:441–446.
- 35. Hota, B. 2004. Contamination, disinfection, and cross-colonization: are hospital surfaces reservoirs for nosocomial infection, Clinical Infectious Diseases. 39:1182-9.

- 36. Huh, A.J. and Y.J. Kwon. 2011. Nanoantibiotics: A new paradigm for treating infectious diseases using nanomaterials in the antibiotics resistant era. Journal of Controlled Release. 156:128.
- Inada, Y., M. Furukawa, H. Sasaki, Y. Kodera, M. Hiroto and H. Nishimura and A. Matsushima. 1995. Biomedical and biotechnological applications of PEG- and PM- modified proteins. Trends in Biotechnology. 13:86-91.
- Kaatz, G.W., S.D. Gitlin, D.R. Schaberg, K.H. Wilson, C.A. Kauffman, S.M. Seo and R. Fekety. 1988. Acquisition of Clostridium difficile from the hospital environment. American Journal of Epidemiology. 127:1289–1294.
- Keseler, I.M., B.M. Cesar, J.C. Vides, S.G. Castro, R.P. Gunsalus, D.A. Johnson,...P. D. Karp. 2009. EcoCyc: A comprehensive view of Escherichia coli biology. Nucleic Acids Research. 37:D464–D470.
- Klevens, R.M., J.R. Edwards, C.L. Jr Richards, T. Hortan, R. Gaynes, D. Pollock and D. Cardo. 2007. Estimating health care associated infections and deaths in U.S. hospitals, 2002. Public Health Rep 122: 160-166.
- 41. Knobler, S.L., S.M. Lemon, M. Najafi M, et al., editors. 2003. The Resistance Phenomenon in Microbes and Infectious Disease Vectors: Implications for Human Health and Strategies for Containment: Workshop Summary. Washington DC. National Academies Press, USA.
- 42. Komolafe, O. 2003. Antibiotic resistance in bacteria an emerging public health problem. Malawi Medical Journal: The Journal of Medical Association of Malawi. 15(2):63–67.
- Kraynov, A. and T.E. Müller. 2011. Concepts for the stabilization of metal nanoparticles in ionic liquids. In: Handy S (ed) Applications of ionic liquids in science and technology. InTech, Croatia. 235–260.
- 44. Lambert, N., et al. 2010. Distinguishing quantum and classical transport through nanostructures. Physical Review Letters. 105:176801.
- 45. Larsen, E.K.U., T. Nielsen, T. Wittenborn, H. Birkedal, T. Vorup-Jensen, M.H. Jakobsen, L. Østergaard, M.R. Horsman, F. Besenbacher, K.A. Howard and J. Kjems. 2009. Size-dependent accumulation of pegylated silane-coated magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles in murine tumors. American Chemical Society Nano. 3:1947–1951.
- Lok, C. N., C.M. Ho, R. Chen, Q.Y. He, W.Y. Yu, H. Sun, P.K. Tam, J. Chiu, F. Che and C.M. Proteomic. 2006. Analysis of the Mode of Antibacterial Action of Silver Nanoparticles. Journal of Proteome Research. 5:916–924.
- Lu, Z., K. Rong, J. Li, H. Yang and R. Chen. 2013. Size-dependent antibacterial activities of silver nanoparticles against oral anaerobic pathogenic bacteria. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine. 24 (6):1465-1471.
- 48. Luyt, C.E., N. Brechot, J.L. Trouillet and J. Chastre. 2014. Antibiotic stewardship in the intensive care unit. Critical Care. 18(5):480.
- Marin, S., G.M. Vlasceanu, R.E. Tiplea, I.R. Bucur, M. Lemnaru, M.M. Marin and A.M. Grumezescu. 2015. Applications and toxicity of silver nanoparticles: a recent review. Current topics in medicinal chemistry. 15(16):1596-604.
- Martinez, J.A., R. Ruthazer, K. Hansjosten, L. Barefoot and D.R. Snydman. 2003. Role of environmental contamination as a risk factor for acquisition of vancomycin-resistant enterococci in patients treated in a medical intensive care unit. Archives of Internal Medicine. 163:1905–1912.
- 51. McHugh, G.L., R.C. Moellering, C.C. Hopkins and M.N. Swartz. 1975. Salmonella typhimurium resistant to silver nitrate, chloramphenicol, and ampicillin. Lancet. 1(7901):235-40.

- McMurry, L.M., M. Oethinger and S.B. Levy. 1991. Overexpression of marA, soxS or acrAB produces resistance to triclosan in Escherichia coli. Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters. 166:305–309.
- McMurry, L.M., M. Oethinger and S.B. Levy. 1998. Triclosan targets lipid synthesis. Nature. 394:531– 532.
- Michen, B., C. Geers, D. Vanhecke, C. Endes, B. Rothen-Ruthishauser, S. Balog and A. Petri-Fink. 2015. Avoiding drying-artifacts in transmission electron microscopy: Characterizing the size and colloidal state of nanoparticles. Nature- Scientific Reports. 5:9793.
- 55. Nägeli, K. W. 1893. "Über oligodynamische Erscheinungen in lebenden Zellen", Neue Denkschriften der allgemeinen Schweizerischen Gesellschaft für die gesamte Naturwissenschaft, XXXIII. Denschr Schweiz Naturforsch Ges. 33(3):174.
- Pal, S., Y.K. Tak and J.M. Song. 2007. Does the antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles depend on the shape of the nanoparticle? A study of the gram-negative bacterium Escherichia coli. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 73:1712-1720.
- Paredes, D., C. Ortiz and R. Torres. 2014. Synthesis, characterization, and evaluation of antibacterial effect of Ag nanoparticles against Escherichia coli O157:H7 and methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). International Journal of Nanomedicine. 9:1717–1729.
- Peleg, A. Y., and D.C. Hooper. 2010. Hospital-Acquired Infections Due to Gram-Negative Bacteria. The New England Journal of Medicine, 362(19):1804–1813.
- 59. Preibe, M., J. Widmer, N.S. Löwa, S.L. Abram, I. Mottas, A.K. Woischnig, et al. 2017. Antimicrobial silver-filled silica nanorattles with low immunotoxicity in dendritic cells. Nanomedicine. 13 (1):11-22.
- Rai, M., A. Yadav and A. Gade. 2009. Silver nanoparticles as a new generation of antimicrobials. Biotechnology Advances. 27:76–83.
- Raza, M. A., Kanwal, Z., Rauf, A., Sabri, A. N., Riaz, S., & Naseem, S. (2016). Size- and Shape-Dependent Antibacterial Studies of Silver Nanoparticles Synthesized by Wet Chemical Routes. Nanomaterials, 6(4), 74.
- 62. Reybrouck, G. 1998. The testing of disinfectants. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation. 41(3–4):269-272.
- 63. Riley, M., et al. 2005. Escherichia coli K-12: a cooperatively developed annotation snapshot. Nucleic Acids Research. 34(1):1-9
- 64. Russell, A.D. 1999. Bacterial resistance to disinfectants: present knowledge and future problems, Journal of Hospital Infections. 43: S57-68.
- 65. Russell, A.D., U. Tattawasart, J-Y Maillard, J.R. Furr. 1998. Possible link between bacterial resistance and use of antibiotics and biocides. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 42:2151.
- Rutala, W. A. and D.J. Weber. 2013. Current principles and practices; new research; and new technologies in disinfection, sterilization, and antisepsis. American Journal of Infection Control. 41(5): S1.
- 67. Rutala, W.A. and D.J. Weber. 2001. Surface disinfection: should we do it? Journal of Hospital infection. 48: S64-8.
- 68. Rutala, W.A. and D.J. Weber. 2004. Disinfection and sterilization: What clinicians need to know? Clinical Infectious Diseases. 39:702-709.

- 69. Rutala, W.A. and D.J. Weber. 2008. CDC Guideline for Disinfection and Sterilization in Health care facilities. https://www.cdc.gov/infectioncontrol/guidelines/disinfection/. (Accessed 5.5.2017).
- Scott, R.D. 2008. The direct medical costs of healthcare-associated infections in US hospitals and the benefits of prevention. http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dhqp/pdf/Scott\_CostPaper.pdf (Accessed on 11.1.2018).
- Sezonov, G., D. Joseleau-Petit, and R. D'Ari. 2007. Escherichia coli Physiology in Luria-Bertani Broth. Journal of Bacteriology, 189(23):8746–8749.
- 72. Simões, M., L.C. Simões and M.J. Vieira. 2010. A review of current and emergent biofilm control strategies. Journal of Food Science and Technology. 43:573-583.
- 73. Singh, R., Wagh, P., Wadhwani, S., Gaidhani, S., Kumbhar, A., Bellare, J., & Chopade, B. A. (2013). Synthesis, optimization, and characterization of silver nanoparticles from Acinetobacter calcoaceticus and their enhanced antibacterial activity when combined with antibiotics. International Journal of Nanomedicine, 8, 4277–4290.
- 74. Sondi, I. and B. Salopek-Sondi B. 2004. Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent: a case study on E. coli as a model for Gram-negative bacteria. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science. 275 177–182.
- 75. Spach, D.H., F.E. Silverstein and W.E. Stamm. 1993. Transmission of infection by gastrointestinal endoscopy and bronchoscopy. Archieves of Internal Medicine. 118:117-128.
- 76. Stamm, W.E.1978. Infections related to medical devices. Annals of Internal Medicine. 89:764–769.
- 77. Stensberg, M. C., Q. Wei, E.S. McLamore, D.M. Porterfield, A. Wei and M.S. Sepúlveda. 2011. Toxicological studies on silver nanoparticles: challenges and opportunities in assessment, monitoring and imaging. Nanomedicine. 6(5):879–898.
- Stone, P.W., E. Larson and L.N. Kawar. 2002. A systematic audit of economic evidence linking nosocomial infections and infection control interventions. American Journal of Infection Control. 30(3):145–52.
- Strohal, R., M. Schelling, M. Takacs, W. Jurecka, U. Gruber and F. Offner. 2005. Nanocrystalline silver dressings as an efficient anti-MRSA barrier: a new solution to an increasing problem. Journal of Hospital Infections. 60:226-230.
- 80. Talon, D. 1999. The role of the hospital environment in the epidemiology of multi-resistant bacteria. Journal of Hospital Infections. 43:13-7.
- Tankovic, J., P. Legrand, G. de Gatines, V. Chemineau, C. Brun-Buisson and J. Duval. 1994. Characterization of a hospital outbreak of multi resistant Acinetobacter baumannii by phenotypic and genotypic typing methods. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 32:2677–2681.
- 82. Tanvir, F., Yaqub, A., Tanvir, S., & Anderson, W. A. (2017). Poly-L-arginine Coated Silver Nanoprisms and Their Anti-Bacterial Properties. Nanomaterials, 7(10), 296.
- Ventola, C. L. 2015. The Antibiotic Resistance Crisis: Part 1: Causes and Threats. Pharmacy and Therapeutics. 40(4):277–283.
- 84. WHO. Antimicrobial resistance: Fact sheet. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs194/en/. Accessed on 21.12.2017.
- Widmer, A. and R. Frei. 2011. Decontamination, Disinfection, and Sterilization, p 143-173. In Versalovic J, Carroll K, Funke G, Jorgensen J, Landry M, Warnock D (ed), Manual of Clinical Microbiology, 10th Edition. American Society for Medicine Press, Washington, DC.

- Working, P.K. et al. 1997. Poly (ethylene) glycol. American Chemical Society. ACS Symposium Series, Vol. 680. ISBN13: 9780841235373. Chapter 4:45–57.
- 87. Wu, X., Y. Tan, H. Mao and M. Zhang M. 2010. Toxic effects of iron oxide nanoparticles on human umbilical vein endothelial cells. International Journal of Nanomedicine. 5:385–399.
- Yang, W., C. Shen, Q. Ji et al. 2009. Food storage material silver nanoparticles interfere with DNA replication fidelity and bind with DNA. Nanotechnology. 20:1–7.
- Yu, M., S. Huang, K.J. Yu and A.M. Clyne. 2012. Dextran and Polymer Polyethylene Glycol (PEG) Coating Reduce Both 5 and 30 nm Iron Oxide Nanoparticle Cytotoxicity in 2D and 3D Cell Culture. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 13(5):5554–5570.
- Zhang, X.-F., Z.-G. Liu, W. Shen and S. Gurunathan. 2016. Silver Nanoparticles: Synthesis, Characterization, Properties, Applications, and Therapeutic Approaches. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 17(9):1534.
- Izak- Nau. E., A. Huk, B. Reidy, H. Uggerud, M. Vadset, S. Eiden, M. Voetz, M. Himly, A. Duschl, M. Dusinska and I. Lynch. 2015. Impact of storage conditions and storage time on silver nanoparticles' physicochemical properties and implications for their biological effects. Royal Society of Chemistry Advances. 5:84172-84185.